IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-31

RICHARD W. RHODES, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TERRI L. BACKHUS
Fla. Bar No. 0946427
Backhus & Izakowitz, P.A.
13014 N. Dale Mabry, Ste. 746
Tampa, FL 33618
(813) 260-7604

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of post-conviction relief after conducting an evidentiary hearing. The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this appeal:

INTRODUCTION

In 1985, the State admitted it only had circumstantial evidence against Mr. Rhodes. Absent from the case was any physical evidence linking Mr. Rhodes to the crime. No weapon was ever found. The only evidence against him were the stories of jailhouse informants who gained favorable treatment in exchange for their testimony and the fact that Mr. Rhodes had the victim's car, which he said he had permission to drive. Mr. Rhodes's own statements were so fantastic that even law enforcement initially didn't believe them.

Mr. Rhodes' conviction rested on the word and reputation of police. The State presented evidence that it had done everything in its power to investigate the forensic evidence in the case. Blood and hair analysis was presented at guilt phase in 1985 by FBI agents to show that the State had throughly investigated its case. But, blood analysis from jeans purportedly belonging to Mr. Rhodes was inconclusive, and the hair clutched in the victim's hands was inconsistent with Mr. Rhodes.

FBI Special Agent Michael Malone testified that the failure to match the hairs did not mean Mr. Rhodes was not present at the crime scene. He told the jury that all of the hair in the victim's hands was her own, pulled from her head in the "throes of death." The State brought Malone from FBI headquarters in Quantico, Virginia to show the jury that it was not to be faulted for the lack of evidence linking Mr. Rhodes to the crime.

Still, the circumstantial evidence was tenuous. The residual doubt over Mr. Rhodes's guilt was evident in the 7-5 death recommendation by the 1985 jury. The jury made this recommendation even though it had heard prejudicial prosecutorial closing argument, prejudicial testimony of a another victim on a tape recording, and improper jury instructions on the heinous, atrocious and cruel and cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factors. Rhodes v. State, 547 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1989). The penalty phase errors were found so prejudicial by this Court that it reversed for a new sentencing. The guilt phase errors were ruled harmless.

At the 1992 resentencing, Mr. Rhodes's guilt phase evidence could not be presented because lingering doubt is not a proper consideration. The jury recommended death by 10-2.

On appeal, this Court found more error in that resentencing counsel had "acquiesce[d]" to a hearsay reading of the informant's testimony into the record; failed to rehabilitate or object to the excusal for cause of two jurors; failed to object to hearsay in the reading of a doctor's report; and failed to object or preserve numerous jury instruction errors, such as Caldwell error. This Court found the errors not preserved and affirmed. Rhodes v. State, 638 So. 2d 920 (Fla. 1994).

Now, additional error has surfaced. At the evidentiary hearings in 2001-2002, Mr. Rhodes presented evidence that <u>Brady</u> material was withheld from the defense at the original trial, and he received ineffective assistance of counsel at resentencing.

During the evidentiary hearing on October 24, 2002, new information was disclosed to the defense. The State disclosed that FBI Agent Malone had given false testimony at trial. He had not tested all of the hair in the victim's hands, nor had he examined the exhibits he identified at trial being the hair and fiber he tested. The State's exhibits were entered into evidence without the jury ever knowing that Malone had not analyzed any of them.

Mr. Rhodes' jury did not know this information because it went uncorrected by the State. When this information is considered cumulatively with the evidence previously presented, confidence in the reliability of the outcome of Mr. Rhodes' trial and resentencing is undermined.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court for the Sixth Judicial Circuit in Pinellas County, Florida, entered the judgment of conviction and sentence of death. A grand jury indicted Mr. Rhodes on one count of first-degree premeditated murder on June 20, 1984 (R. 20-21). Mr. Rhodes was represented by Judge Henry Andringa (R. 960).

Mr. Rhodes' jury trial began on August 6, 1985 before Judge Helen Hansel (R. 960). On August 19, 1985, the jury found Mr. Rhodes guilty as charged (R. 2540). The penalty phase was conducted on August 27, 1985 and the jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 7 to 5 (R. 274, 2750).

On September 12, 1985, the court sentenced Mr. Rhodes to death finding the aggravating circumstances of under sentence of

imprisonment at the time of the crime; prior violent felony; during the course of a robbery or sexual battery; heinous, atrocious and cruel (HAC); and cold, calculated and premeditated (CCP)(R. 2959-2960). In mitigation, Judge Hansel found some evidence of a long-term personality disorder (R. 2960).

On direct appeal, this Court vacated the death sentence, finding that the trial court erroneously allowed the jury to consider a taped statement of a prior victim without an opportunity to cross examine; that the trial court allowed inflammatory prosecutorial closing argument; that the trial court instructed the jury on the HAC and CCP aggravators when neither applied; and that the trial court answered a jury question without notice to counsel. This Court also found improper prosecutorial misconduct in guilt phase and that an improper guilt phase jury instruction on flight should not have been given. This Court found the errors harmless. This Court did not consider the merits of Mr. Rhodes' argument that the trial court erred in allowing FBI agent Michael Malone to testify outside his area of expertise. Rhodes v. State, 547 So. 2d 1201, 1203 (Fla. 1989). The case was remanded for a new sentencing proceeding.

On February 11-14, 1992, a resentencing took place before Judge W. Douglas Baird (RS. 508). Attorney John Swisher represented Mr. Rhodes in this proceeding. The jury voted 10 to 2 for death on February 14, 1992 (RS. 1179). On March 20, 1992, Mr. Rhodes was sentenced to death. The judge found the aggravating factors that Mr. Rhodes was on parole at the time of

the crime; that he had been convicted of a prior violent felony; and that the crime was committed during the course of an attempted sexual battery. In mitigation, the court found that Mr. Rhodes was 30 at the time of the crime and that his ability to appreciate the criminality of his acts was substantially impaired. In non-statutory mitigation, the judge found that Mr. Rhodes was abandoned as a child by his parents; that he never experienced a normal family life; and that he spent most of his life in state mental hospitals and prisons (RS. 1199, 488-491).

On direct appeal of the resentencing, this Court found that the resentencing court botched the jury instruction on a felony involving use of violence; that the resentencing judge erred in allowing Oregon Officer Gary Wright to testify about an Oregon mental health report that the defense had no opportunity to challenge; and that the State improperly questioned Officer Wright on collateral crimes that were not before the jury. See, Rhodes v. State, 638 So. 2d 920, 926-927 (Fla. 1994). This Court found the errors harmless. Id. Certiorari was denied on December 5, 1994. Rhodes v. Florida, 115 S. Ct. 642 (1994).

On April 12, 1996, Mr. Rhodes filed his first post-conviction motion raising 35 claims (PC-R. 1-176). An amended post-conviction motion was filed on January 8, 1999 (PC-R. 327-362). The State responded on August 23, 1999(PC-R. 453). After a <u>Huff</u> hearing, the trial court granted an evidentiary hearing on only two claims: ineffective assistance of counsel at resentencing and a <u>Brady</u>/newly-discovered evidence claim (PC-R. 469-629). Evidentiary hearings were conducted on May 1, 2001,

October 24, 2001, Feb. 25, 2002 and May 29, 2002.

On December 19, 2001, Mr. Rhodes filed a Motion for DNA Testing pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.853 and a motion to establish the condition of forensic evidence and chain of custody (PC-R. 701-702; 703-709). The motion was granted on July 19, 2002 after the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing (PC-R. 770). The FDLE report stating its DNA results was not available to the defense until January 27, 2003 and the full file was not disclosed until March 11, 2003 (PC-R. 1008).

Mr. Rhodes filed a motion to depose the State's DNA expert on July 7, 2003 (PC-R. 1008), but the request was denied. None of the DNA results or procedures have been tested in open court or admitted into evidence for this appeal.

The trial court denied Mr. Rhodes' motion for post-conviction relief on November 12, 2003 (PC-R. 1033-1035). A motion for rehearing was denied on December 12, 2003 (PC-R. 1025-1032; 1033-1035). A notice of appeal was filed on December 31, 2003 (PC-R. 1036-1037). This appeal is timely made.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Rhodes was granted an evidentiary hearing on ineffective assistance of counsel at resentencing and a Brady/newly-discovered evidence about recently disclosed information on FBI Agent Malone's trial testimony.

A. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

At the May 1, 2001 evidentiary hearing, Kenny Rhodes, Mr. Rhodes' younger brother, testified that his parents were Richard Rhodes Sr. and Bessie Rhodes, but he was raised by his foster

family, the Bartikians, since he was seven years old (PC-R. 1058). He said his natural parents ruined his life (PC-R. 1059). He described his father as a deviant who liked to "mess with children" and destroy them (PC-R. 1059-60). His biological mother did nothing to stop Richard Sr.'s behavior (PC-R. 1060). Kenny was sexually molested by Richard Sr. and abandoned to foster care when he was 7 (PC-R. 1060).

Kenny could not remember his parents feeding them regularly. The children would be given a bean sandwich that fell apart in their hands and they were forced to eat it off the ground. They were fed sauerkraut three times a day until they threw it behind the couch. When their father discovered it, he made them eat it off the floor (PC-R. 1061). Kenny hid from his father. He saw his father rape his step-sister and brothers. He knew that eventually his father would come for him (PC-R. 1062).

When Kenny was 7 and James was 8, they were abandoned by their parents. They were left in a house and were forced to drink from the toilet (PC-R. 1062). They ate from garbage cans because there was no food in the house. They did this for two days before child protective services came and took them away (PC-R. 1062).

Kenny has had difficulty overcoming his early childhood.

He has grown angrier and more hateful each day (PC-R. 1063). He described James as unruly. While in foster care at the Bartikian home, James tried to "heave me [Kenny] over an overpass on the freeway to see if I could bounce or not." (PC-R.

1090). Richard Jr. was at Napa State Hospital (PC-R. 1090). Richard Jr. was sent there because his father thought the best way to get rid of him was to throw him out like garbage (PC-R. 1064).

Kenny lived with the Bartikians for five years before he was returned to his father. When he was 12, his father threatened to kill him if he did not do what his father wanted. Kenny was raped several times by his father. Richard Sr. also allowed his step-mother's sons to put a pitchfork to his throat and beat him up (PC-R. 1066). After his father destroyed Kenny mentally, physically and sexually, his father sent him to juvenile hall because he was uncontrollable (PC-R. 1067). James was sent there, too.

As a result of his upbringing, Kenny tried to commit suicide twice (PC-R. 1070). He claimed his father abused all the children, and went to prison for it (PC-R. 1070). Kenny has difficulty controlling his temper and was given the choice at age 18 to go to jail or enlist in the military (PC-R. 1072). Kenny enlisted and lasted about a month and a half. He was honorably discharged because of mental disabilities (PC-R. 1072).

Kenny was given Dilantin to control his behavior. He was sent to a mental hospital in Woodland. He tried to overdose on drugs (PC-R. 1073). Kenny married and had a child, but the child was taken away because of his temper (PC-R. 1074). After he lost his child, he began using heroin and cocaine (PC-R. 1074).

Kenny had a foster family that loved him. The Bartikians tried to teach him right from wrong (PC-R. 1075). At the time of the evidentiary hearing, Kenny was taking Amitriptyline to control his anger and rages (PC-R. 1076). He has been on disability because he cannot hold down a regular job (PC-R. 1089). Kenny was never contacted by Richard Jr.'s defense attorneys. Had they contacted him, Kenny would have cooperated (PC-R. 1080).

Eileen Meis¹ married Richard Sr.'s brother, Gerald Vailes in 1949 (PC-R. 1094). She lived in Santa Rosa when Richard Jr. was born and saw him as a small boy (PC-R. 1095). She first met Richard Sr. when he returned from Korea in 1949 and was staying with his mother, Mary Vailes (PC-R. 1095). He had no previous relationship with his mother because he had been raised by her sister's family. Richard Sr. asked Ms. Meis' husband if he could sleep with Eileen (PC-R. 1096). Her husband slammed Richard Sr.'s through a plate glass window, and he made no further advances.

Richard Sr. married a woman named Dorothy, but the marriage lasted only a few weeks (PC-R. 1096). He then married Bessie, Richard Jr.'s mother. When Richard, Jr. was born, both Bessie and Richard Sr. had alcohol problems (PC-R. 1096). The couple fought "continuously" and Bessie had black eyes and facial bruises. Bessie told her it was "not pleasant" living with Richard Sr. (PC-R. 1097). Bessie was quiet, reticent and scared

¹The record incorrectly spells her name as Mease.

(PC-R. 1097).

Ms. Meis did not want to be in "same room alone with [Richard, Sr.] him." (PC-R. 1097). If Richard Sr. had several drinks, he would explode (PC-R. 1098). She was afraid to be with him because she had seen him hit his mother in a "full-out punch." (PC-R. 1098). This behavior continued after Richard Jr. was born.

After Richard Jr.'s birth, Bessie was diagnosed with tuberculosis and was placed in a sanatorium for two years. Richard Jr. was placed in foster care (PC-R. 1098). The foster family wanted to adopt him, but his parents refused (PC-R. 1099). Mrs. Meis was appalled because Bessie was in a sanatorium and Richard Sr. "didn't seem to want or need the child at all." (PC-R. 1099). When Richard Jr. returned to live with his natural parents, the family lived in employee housing in farming communities. The family moved often because Richard Sr. would be fired for drinking (PC-R. 1100). The children were never in a tidy home. There was a week's worth of dishes in the kitchen, and the remains of meals. There was mold and clothing everywhere (PC-R. 1100).

Mrs. Meis knew that Mrs. Vailes, Richard's mother, would buy clothes for the children. They would wear the clothes until they were so filthy that they threw them out. The family often moved in the middle of the night because it could not pay the rent (PC-R. 1101). The family lived outdoors. Mrs. Meis saw them living in ditches and in a "hay pod in the middle of a field" (PC-R. 1103).

Mrs. Meis and her father-in-law took food to the children (PC-R. 1101). She was "sick" when she saw Richard Jr. and James sitting at the table "filthy dirty." They had not been taught to eat with utensils. She saw the boys put their hands into a bowl of beans (PC-R. 1101). The bowl was not clean, and the boys were shoving food into their mouths (PC-R. 1102).

Mrs. Meis said the children had behavior problems. She saw the children hit so hard it left a full hand print across their faces. She also saw black eyes, bruises, contusions and cuts all over the boys' bodies (PC-R. 1102). On one occasion, she saw Richard Sr. hit Richard Jr. with his "full fist." (PC-R. 1113).

Mrs. Meis suspected the children had been sexually abused because Richard Jr. would cower when his father came around. Richard Jr. told her he had been sexually molested by his father (PC-R. 1103; 1117). He told her this before he went to Napa State Hospital at age 6 (PC-R. 1117). Mrs. Meis told her inlaws about the abuse but it was ignored (PC-R. 1117).

When Bessie was pregnant with Kenny, Mrs. Meis and her father-in-law went to Richard Sr.'s home and found him in bed with Bessie and her sister (PC-R. 1119). Bessie told Mrs. Meis that her sister was also pregnant by Richard Sr. (PC-R. 1120). Richard Sr. molested Mrs. Meis' daughter when she was a small child (PC-R. 1104), but she did not tell Mrs. Meis until she was 40.

Bessie and Richard Sr. often abandoned their children. One time, they left the children with a babysitter in San Diego.

When it was apparent they were not going to return, the children were sent to foster homes (PC-R. 1107).

When Richard Jr. was 12, he returned to his parents. Richard Sr. had divorced Bessie by then and married Pat, who had two children of her own, Cheryl and Michael (PC-R. 1108). The family came to visit Mrs. Vailes but did not bring Richard Jr. When Mrs. Vailes asked where Richard Jr. was Cheryl said he was "chained to the bed or closet or someplace." Richard Jr. was not allowed to visit his grandmother because he wet his bed, and this was his punishment (PC-R. 1108). Richard Jr. also had been chained to the doghouse for three weeks for wetting his bed (PC-R. 1108).

Pat Rhodes, Richard Sr.'s third wife, wanted nothing to do with Richard Sr.'s first four children. She refused to care for them, and that precipitated Richard Jr. being sent to Napa State Hospital (PC-R. 1109). Richard Sr.'s sexual conduct continued with Pat's children. He was charged and sent to prison for sexually molesting Cheryl (PC-R. 1109).

Mrs. Meis had not seen Richard Jr. since he was 18 when he was released from Napa State Hospital (PC-R. 1110; 1114). He had no education (PC-R. 1114). In 1992, Mrs. Meis was not contacted by Richard Jr.'s attorneys. Had she been contacted, she would have been available to testify (PC-R. 1111).

Lorraine Armstrong, a charge nurse at Napa State Hospital, testified that Richard Jr. had been a patient in the children's section (PC-R. 1121-22). She was in charge of 45 children. She knew Richard Rhodes Sr. because he was raised by friends of

hers. She recognized 12-year-old Richard Jr. when he came into the hospital because he looked just like his father (PC-R. 1123-24). Richard Jr. was compliant and would do anything to get the other children to like him (PC-R. 1125). One time, Richard Jr. went so far as to stick his hand into a bee hive to collect bees for a child who sold them. His entire arm was stung, but Richard got the bees just to help (PC-R. 1125).

Mrs. Armstrong thought Richard Jr. had a schizophrenic diagnosis and was given Thorazine (PC-R. 1125). Student doctors treated the children and Richard Jr. had four or five doctors (PC-R. 1127). Because of budget cuts, the hospital had little money for the children. At times, Ms. Armstrong would be the only one in charge of the children (PC-R. 1130).

Mrs. Armstrong said Richard Jr. was not very good in school. She did not consider him a smart child (PC-R. 1134). Richard Jr. worked making coffins in a carpenter shop with the retarded patients (PC-R. 1131). She thought he was "pretty slow." (PC-R. 1134). She did not remember him reading or writing (PC-R. 1135).

In the three-years she had contact with Richard, Jr., he was visited by his father once for one hour (PC-R. 1128). At the visit, he acted like a stranger. He did not hug Richard Jr. He took him out for a hamburger and then brought him right back (PC-R. 1128). Mrs. Armstrong read a May 2, 1967 letter into the record in which she documented to Catherine Broussard, Richard Jr.'s aunt, the short length of his father's visit (PC-R. 1131). At times, Mrs. Armstrong took Richard Jr. to her home because he

had no visitors on holidays (PC-R. 1134).

After leaving the children's ward, Mrs. Armstrong did not see Richard Jr. nor did she know he was in the adult unit of the hospital (PC-R. 1141). Mrs. Armstrong was not contacted by Richard Jr.'s defense attorneys at the time of his resentencing but would have testified had she been contacted (PC-R. 1134).

Dorothy Bellew², an investigator, interviewed Mr. Rhodes' aunt, Kathleen Bussard [sic] [Broussard] in 1995 or 1996. Ms. Broussard was in her 80s at the time and is now deceased (PC-R. 1281). Ms. Broussard told Ms. Ballew that Richard Jr.'s mother, Bessie, was an alcoholic, had a low IQ, and was possibly retarded. Bessie drank alcohol during all of her pregnancies (PC-R. 1285).

Ms. Brouussard said Richard Jr. was the first-born child. She knew that her brother, Richard Sr., was a pedophile and had been in San Quentin and Arizona (PC-R. 1285).

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