#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD W. RHODES,

Appellant,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

CASE NO. SC04-31

\_ \_ \_

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

\_\_\_\_\_

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101
Concourse Center #4
3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607
Phone: (813) 287-7900
Fax: (813) 281-5500

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

#### ISSUE IV

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING VARIOUS CLAIMS.

# Ineffective Assistance of Resentencing Counsel for Failure to Challenge the Trial Testimony of Three Jailhouse Informants:

In the resentencing appeal Appellant complained about the trial court's admission of the prior testimony of his former cellmates and this Court ruled that defense counsel acquiesced in the trial court's decision to admit the testimony of the unavailable witnesses. Rhodes v. State, 638 So. 2d 920, 925 (Fla. 1994).

Thereafter, in his post-conviction motion below Rhodes argued in claims XVIII and XX that there had been a <u>Brady</u><sup>12</sup> violation and the State knowingly presented false testimony of inmate Harvey Duranseau - and that trial counsel failed to bring the alleged fact of Duranseau being a State agent to the court's attention. The trial court explained its reasons in rejecting these claims:

#### Claim XVIII and Amended Claim XVIII

Defendant's original Motion to Vacate claims that the State withheld <u>Brady</u> evidence, although specific reference to such evidence is not cited. That portion of the Claim must therefore be denied, as it is not supported by the record or any specific allegation of fact.

The Defendant next alleges that he was denied his rights under the fifth, sixth, and eighth amendments

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

by the State's use of Defendant's fellow inmates as witnesses during the guilt phase of his trial. The Defendant contends that these witnesses were State agents and obtained statements from him in violation of his Fifth Amendment right to remain silent and in derogation of his Sixth Amendment right to have counsel present when he was interrogated. The testimony of all three inmate witnesses was objected to at trial and the issue was preserved and addressed by Defendant's initial appeal. (Exhibit "J"). This claim is now procedurally barred and is therefore denied.

The Defendant's Amended Motion to Vacate cites "current" case law to argue that the trial court's ruling regarding the admission of the inmate testimony was improper. However, the case cited by Defendant's counsel is no longer "current", having been specifically reversed in <u>U.S. v. Lowery</u>, 166 F.3d 1119 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. Feb. 3, 1999). The Defendant has failed to demonstrate any prosecutorial misconduct nor has he demonstrated any failure of trial counsel that could constitute ineffective assistance regarding this issue and this Claim must therefore be summarily denied.

### Claim XX

The Defendant claims that the State knowingly presented false testimony from witness Duranseau, a fellow inmate of the Defendant's while the Defendant was in the Citrus County Jail. Defendant's assertion is based on statements made by Mr. Duranseau during cross-examination as a State witness when he was questioned about two letters that he wrote to the Defendant. The letters contained assertions that statements Mr. Duranseau had made to the police were false and coerced. On redirect examination, Duranseau testified that the assertions of falsity and coercion made in the letters were themselves false and part of an attempt to gain more information from the Defendant. The Defendant suggests that these portions of the trial record demonstrate a deliberate effort by the State to present knowingly false testimony. In addition, the claim persists in referring to Mr. Duranseau as a state agent, thereby invoking the argument regarding the Fifth and Sixth Amendments that was previously addressed in Claim XVIII. Finally, the Defendant

claims that his trial counsel's failure to bring these matters "to the court's attention" constitutes ineffective assistance for which an evidentiary hearing should be required.

The Defendant's argument has no merit. Defendant's reference to the trial demonstrates, the entire issue of Mr. Duranseau's statements was placed before the jury by Defendant's own counsel during cross-examination. (Exhibit G). The jury was fully aware of the contradictory nature of his testimony and was given the opportunity to judge the credibility of Mr. Duranseau and the truthfulness of his statements through the adversarial process. Indeed, Defendant's counsel may well have been ineffective if he had not explored this area during cross-examination. As for whether or not Duranseau was a state agent, the court has addressed this matter in Claim XVIII and found that the issue was raised by Defendant's trial counsel, ruled upon by the trial court and preserved and argued during the initial appeal. Defendant has failed to suggest the existence of any additional evidence to support the allegation of state agency. The claim must therefore be summarily denied.

(R4, 477-479).

That complaint raised below involved the assertion that Duranseau was a State agent and the use of his testimony at the guilt phase in the first trial when Appellant was represented by trial counsel Mr. Andringa. See Claim XVIII, R1, 111-124; Claim XX, R1, 126-128; and Amended Motion Claim XVIII, R2, 342-345; State's Response to Motion to Vacate, R3, 413-415, 416-418. Appellant did not present below the claim that he raises here for the first time, i.e., that resentencing counsel Swisher rendered ineffective assistance of counsel pertaining to the testimony of the jailhouse witnesses. Therefore, the issue is

not properly presented here. <u>See Burns v. State</u>, 2006 Fla. LEXIS 2593, 31 Fla. L. Weekly S 752 (Fla. November 2, 2006); <u>McDonald v. State</u>, 2006 Fla. LEXIS 2589, 31 Fla. L. Weekly S 747 (Fla. November 2, 2006); <u>Doyle v. State</u>, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988); Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 2003). 13

#### Other Alleged Errors By Resentencing Penalty Phase Counsel:

On the resentencing appeal this Court rejected a claim that the trial court erred by rejecting two jurors (Blackham and Varellan) for cause as counsel acquiesced to the trial court's decision to excuse them for cause. Rhodes v. State, 638 So. 2d 920, 924 (Fla. 1994). This Court also ruled that the trial court had erred in admitting hearsay statements contained in a doctor's report but had not abused its discretion in denying defense counsel's request for a mistrial since it was not serious enough to warrant a mistrial and the failure to file a requested curative instruction was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 924. Appellant does not identify where he raised this claim below, but, in any event, he cannot satisfy the requirements of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

To the extent that Appellant is urging that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance on the court's failure to

Nor did Appellant argue at the  $\underline{\text{Huff}}$  hearing the claim that resentencing counsel was ineffective for failing to urge the cellmates were state agents.  $\underline{\text{Cf}}$ .  $\underline{\text{Vining v. State}}$ , 827 So. 2d 201 (Fla. 2002).

instruct the jury on the consent element of sexual battery and attempted sexual battery given in conjunction with the instruction on the aggravating circumstance of murder "committed while he was engaged in the commission or an attempt to commit the crime of sexual battery," the lower court correctly disposed of this claim:

#### Claim III

The Defendant alleges that the trial court failed to properly instruct the jury at resentencing on the "consent" element of sexual battery or attempted sexual battery. The State concedes that the jury instruction on sexual battery and attempted sexual battery, which was given in conjunction with the instruction on the aggravating circumstance of the murder being "committed while he was engaged in the commission, or and attempt to commit the crime of sexual battery", did not include the element Defendant further alleges that the failure consent. of trial counsel to raise or preserve the issue constitutes ineffective assistance. Although issues concerning jury instructions are procedurally barred if not raised on direct appeal, the Court must address the Defendant's ineffectiveness of counsel claim. jury instruction incomplete in the Defendant's sentencing proceeding was related to the collateral offense of sexual battery as the same was included in the "in the course of a sexual battery" aggravator. The absence of the element of lack of consent in the jury instruction for this aggravator did not create a reasonable probability that the jury's recommendation would have been different. It is difficult conceive that the jury considered a murder committed during a consensual sexual encounter as an aggravating circumstance, and certainly the reference in the given instruction to the "crime of sexual battery" strongly presumes a lack of consent on the part of the victim. The Court therefore finds that the Defendant has failed to meet the requirements of the two-pronged test of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)

and this claim is summarily denied. (R4, 471).

This Court has previously ruled (twice) that there was sufficient evidence that the murder was committed during an attempted sexual battery. Rhodes v. State, 638 So. 2d 920, 926-927 (Fla. 1994):

We also find that there was sufficient evidence that the murder was committed during an attempted sexual battery to justify the giving of the jury instruction and to support the trial court's finding of this aggravating factor. The victim's body was found clad in only a brassiere, which was up around the victim's neck. Most of the various stories told by Rhodes suggested some form of sexual activity had taken place during his encounter with the victim. Specifically, Rhodes told several witnesses that the victim resisted his sexual advances. On the same basic evidence, this aggravating factor was upheld in Rhodes' original appeal. 547 So. 2d at 1207-08.

This Court has also ruled that the elements of an underlying felony do not have to be explained with the same particularity required if that felony were the primary offense charged. Hitchcock v. State, 578 So. 2d 685, 692 (Fla. 1990), vacated on other grounds, 505 U.S. 1215 (1992).

This claim is meritless.

#### Ineffective Assistance of Guilt Phase Counsel:

The lower court addressed and disposed of Appellant's contention that guilt phase counsel rendered ineffective assistance in Claim VI of its order below:

a.) Defendant claims that his counsel was ineffective

regarding jury selection when the State, during selection of alternate jurors, moved backstrike a member of the panel already accepted but unsworn. This resulted in an objection and motion for mistrial from Defendant's counsel, which was properly denied. The issue preserved and was addressed on the initial direct The Defendant has been unable to appeal. demonstrate any prejudice resulting from this contains Defendant's motion speculation regarding possible alternate scenarios in the selection process, but the motion fails to demonstrate that a juror that was unacceptable to the Defendant served on the jury. This portion of the claim has no merit, does not require an evidentiary hearing and is summarily denied.

- Defendant claims that his counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and later failing to impeach witness Margaret Tucker regarding the date on which the Defendant arrived late for work. Although the work records of the Defendant which were presented at the first sentencing hearing reflected that he was late on February 24, 1984, there is no showing that Mrs. Tucker could be impeached regarding that issue. testimony was that she believed Defendant was late for work on a Friday in late February. (Exhibit "A"). Defendant has failed to any facts that would demonstrate allege deficient performance on the part of his trial counsel regarding this issue and it too should be summarily denied.
- c.) Defendant claims that counsel was ineffective in failing to object to testimony at trial regarding the voluntary nature of Defendant's statements. There is reference to an apparent discrepancy in the testimony of Detective Porter regarding this issue between the statement given at trial and the one that was given during the pretrial motion to suppress. The State, in its response, has satisfied the Court that there is in fact no discrepancy in testimony but an error in the transcript of the testimony at the motion to suppress. (Exhibit "B"). In addition, the Defendant has failed to demonstrate the existence

of any good faith objection to the voluntary nature of his statements or that he suffered any prejudice as a result of counsel's failure to object to their introduction. This portion of the claim has no merit and should be summarily denied.

- d.) Defendant claims that his counsel was ineffective regarding a failure to request a curative instruction regarding some testimony relating to irrelevant collateral crimes. In fact, trial counsel objected to the testimony and moved for a mistrial, which was denied. (Exhibit "C") issue was preserved and raised for review in the direct appeal. State v. Rhodes, 547 So.2d 1201, 1203 n2. (Fla.1989). The Defendant has failed to demonstrate that counsel's performance in this regard was deficient and further has failed to demonstrate any resulting prejudice. the trial judge's suggestion that a curative instruction would only call further attention to the improper testimony was correct. This claim has no merit and should be summarily denied.
- Defendant claims that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to testimony Dr. William Ross Maples, a forensic anthropologist who was called by the State to testify regarding the cause of death of the victim. The apparent basis of objection to the testimony is relevance. However it appears that the testimony was very relevant to the State's burden of proof regarding corpus delecti. (Exhibit "D"). That being the case, it that Defendant is the unable apparent demonstrate any prejudice from the absence of an improper objection. The claim has no merit and should be summarily denied.

The matters contained in this claim do not individually or cumulatively demonstrate a deficient performance on the part of Defendant's trial counsel and the claim should be summarily denied.

(R4, 472-474).

#### Other Alleged Errors in Summary Denial:

Finally, Appellant makes a mere string cite of issues

presented below without any supporting argument. This is improper under this Court's jurisprudence. See Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) ("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived."); Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 217 n.6 (Fla. 1999); State v. Mitchell, 719 So. 2d 1245, 1247 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998); Sweet v. State, 810 So. 2d 854, 870 (Fla. 2002); Fotopoulos v. State, 838 So. 2d 1122, 1127 n.4 (Fla. 2002); Whitfield v. State, 923 So. 2d 375, 378 (Fla. 2005); Jones v. State, 928 So. 2d 1178, 1182 (Fla. 2006); Simmons v. State, 934 So. 2d 1100, 1111 (Fla. 2006).

Appellant's effort to "preserve" such claims now are unavailing since Appellant may not now defeat his prior procedural defaults by impermissibly attempting to revive them in an unavailable vehicle.

The lower court correctly summarily denied relief on claim XXX (R4, 484; procedurally barred and meritless); claim XVII (R4, 477; insufficiently pled and meritless); claim XXVIII (R4, 483; barred and meritless); claim XXXI (R4, 484-485; procedurally barred and meritless); claim XXVII (R4, 483; procedurally barred); claim XIII (R4, 476; meritless and it is

also procedurally barred); 14 claim X (R4, 475; procedurally barred); claim XI (R4, 475-476; insufficiently plead and meritless); claim XIV (R4, 476-477; meritless); claim XVI (R4, 477; claim not cognizable collaterally); claim XIX (R4, 478; meritless and claim is procedurally barred as question for direct appeal); claim XX (R4, 478-479; meritless); claim XXIV (R4, 481-482; meritless and not proper subject of collateral challenge); claim XXII (R4, 480; meritless and also procedurally barred as issue for direct appeal); claim XXIX (R4, 483-484; procedurally barred and meritless); claim XXVI (R4, 485; procedurally barred and meritless); claim XXXII (R4, 485; procedurally barred and meritless); claim XXXII (R4, 486; moot, meritless and also procedurally barred).

#### CONCLUSION

Appellee respectfully requests that this Court affirm the denial of relief by the lower court.